ISLAR v. WHOLE FOODS MARKETS GROUP, INC. Doc. 9

UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

GREGORY ISLAR
Plaintiff,
V. Civil Action No. 16-109§RDM)
WHOLE FOODS MARKET GROUP, INC.

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

Plaintiff Gregory Islar waserminatedrom his position aa supermarket operated by
Defendant Whole Foods Market Group, Inc. (“Whole Foodtshar now bringsclaims against
Whole Foods for (1) violationsf the Civil Rights Act of 186, 42 U.S.C. § 19812) breach of
implied contract; and (3) negligent retention and supervisBaeDkt. 1-1 at 815. Whole
Foods has moved to dismiss the third cdanfailure to state a claimander the rule oGriffin v.
Acacia Life Insurance Cp925 A.2d 564, 576—77 (D.C. 2007). Dkt. 4. For the reasons
explained below, Whole Foods’s motion will be granted.

l. BACKGROUND

For purposes of Whole Foods’s motion to dismiss, the following allegations in Islar’s
complaint are taken as truSee, e.gHishon v. King & Spaldingd67 U.S. 69, 73 (1984).

Islar, who is African American, was employed by Whole Foods between April 1996 and
May 2013. Compl. 1%, 6 Starting in2005, heserved as the Customer Service Team Leader at
the Whole Foods supermarket in the Georgetown neighborhood of Washingtond D[ ®.
Islarwas resposible for supervising cashiers, argported to the Store Team Leader and

Assistant Store Team Leadetd.
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OnJanuaryl9, 2013, Whole Foods employee Jean Michel Bant@al® transferred to the
Georgetown store in the position®tore Team Leaderthat is,aslIslar’'s supervisor.ld. 11 8,
9. Islar alleges that Bartolo “had developed a reputation for mistreatiplgyees and
terminating a large number of employeeld’ § 7. Just before Bartolwas set to begjran
Assistant Store Team Leader asksdr to “get rid of’Islar’s assistantim Wilson,because
Bartolo “did not get along with her.Id. { 7, 10. Wilson had previously filed a complaint
against BartoloId. § 7. Islar refused, saying that he would not demote or terminate Wilson
“because she was a good employde.”{ 8.

Upon Bartolo’s arrival, hgiilmmediately. . . began targeting [Islar] for termination.”
Id. § 9. Whole Foods policy provides thatmayees may be terminated after receiving three
written reprimandsld. Islar received his first such reprimand from Bartolo on January 21,
2013, just two days after Bartolo arriveldl. A cashier had temporarily left her register to help
other employes, and had done so at the request of an Assistant Team Lieadistar was not
at work that day.ld. Nonetheless, Bartolo issued Islar a written reprimand “because the cashier
[had] left the register.d. Islar received his second reprimand on February 4, 2013, the day
after Superbowl Sundayd. § 10. Islahadnot worledthat Sunday, but Bartolo reprimanded
him anyway “because the chegklut lines [had been] too long.fd. According to Wilson, there
had been “no lines for custometsat Sunday.Id.

After receiving the second reprimand, Islar complained to the Regional Maraber
Human Resources Manager that he “was being mistreated by” Bado#l1l. The HR
Manager set up meeting in the hopes of mediating the disputk. During the meeting, Bartolo

saidthat Islar “was not ready to be a team leader” and “should step down from hisrpdddi



Islar responded that he had htidtjob for seven years and would not step doveh. The
dispute was not resolvedd.

On May2, 2013, Islar received his third reprimand because “there were lines at cash
registers.”Id. §12. Islar was immediately terminateldl. Islar alleges thateat no point
“engagfd] in any conduct which warranted discipline and/or terminatidd. 18.

According to Islar, Bartolo has terminated approximately twenty Afriaaerican
employees at the Georgetown store sirereuary2013. 1d. §13. Islar says these employees
were written up for “insignificant issues,” such as alleged failuredetgr smile at customers
or because a customer complained about having to wait inlineMinority employees were
terminated as soon as they received their third written reprimdndBut Bartolo “did not
terminate. . . nonAfrican American employedsr the same alleged infractionsld.

On May 2, 2016, Islar filed the instant lawsuit against Whole Foods in D.C. Superior
Court. Dkt. 1 at 1.His complaint includethreecounts. Count lalleges that Bartolo violated
the Civil Rights Act of 1866, 42 U.S.C. § 1981, by applying the Whole Foods discipline policy
“in an arbitrary and discriminatory manridsy demanding that Islar step down, and by
retaliating against Islar after Islar complained about Bartolo’s adandCiompl. fL5-21. Count
Il alleges that Bartolo violatetie Whole Foods employee handbook, which Islar says
constitutesa breach of ammplied contract.ld. §122—-25. And Count llalleges that Whole
Foods negligently retained and supervised Bartolthat Whole Foods knew about Bartolo’s
“mistreatment of employees,” his “arbitrary and discriminatory enforc€noéthe disciplinary
policy, and his “disproportionatertaination of minority employeesput failed to correct the

behavior. Id. §126-30. On June 13, 2016, Whole Foods removed the case to this Court,



invoking the Court’s diversity and federal question jurisdiction. Dkt. 1 at 3 (citing 3&U
§§ 1331, 1332).

Whole Foods’s motion to dismiss Count Il of Islar's complaines-the countor
negligent retention and supervision—is now before the Court. Dkt. 4.

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A party moving to dismiss a complaint under Rule 12(b)(6) bears the burden of showing
that the complaint “fail[s] to state a claim upon which relief can be granteeld! R. Civ. P.
12(b)(6);see also Browning v. Clintp292 F.3d 235, 242 (D.C. Cir. 2002). “To survive a
motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted,ds tstiate a
claim to relief that is plausible on its faceAshcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quoting
Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). “A claim has facial plausibility when the
plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the court to draw the reasonédrienice that the
defendant is liable fothe misconduct alleged.ld. The Court need not accept as true any legal
conclusions disguised as factual allegations, any “naked assertion[s] devhidlodér factual
enhancement,” or any “formulaic recitation[s] of the elements of a causeaf.acid.
(quotingTwombly 550 U.S. at 555, 557). The plaintiff, however, is entitled to “the benefit of all
inferences that can be derived from the facts alleg@di” Nat'l Ins. Co. v. FDIC642 F.3d
1137, 1139 (D.C. Cir. 2011) (quotiddromas v. Principi394 F.3d 970, 972 (D.C. Cir. 2005)).

1. ANALYSIS
Under District of Columbia law, “negligent supervision and retention” is a tortqaredi

on the employer’s “direct negligence,” rather than on a theory of vicaridityia Phelan v.



City of Mount Rainier 805 A.2d 930, 937 (D.C. 2002)As with themore generalort of
negligence, negligent supervision occurs when the employer “breaches a caty which
proximately results in injuryto the plaintiff 1d. For the more specific tort of negligent
supervision, however, the plaintiff mustther show that the employer “knew or should have
known[that] its employee behaved in a dangerous or otherwise incompetent mamaknat
the employenonetheless “failed to adequately supervise the employededt 937-38.

The D.C. Court of Appeals added another important cavéatififin v. Acacia Life
Insurance Cq.925 A.2d 564 (D.C. 2007), holdinlgat a “claim of negligent supervision may be
predicated only on common law causes of action” or on “duties otherwise imposed by the
common law.” Id. at 576. In Griffin, the plaintiff alleged that hemanageihad “pulled down a
co-worker’s brassier strap” and then retaliated against the plaintiffskifeecomplained.Id. at
566. She brought clainagainst the comparfgr sex discrimination and retaliation under the
D.C. Human Rights law, aralso allegedhatthe companyadnegligentlysupervised the
manager.ld. at 571. The Court of Appeals rejected the negligergrsigon claim because “the
common law did not recognize an employer’s duty to prevent the sort of sexual hatassme
alleged in [the plaintiff's] complaint.ld. at 576. Although “a negligent supervision claim could
lie in a sexual harassment case iffguped by a viable claim of independent tortious conduct as
recognized at common law” (such as, for example, a aéinattery), “no evidence of
independent tortious conduct of that kind was proffered or present&difim. Id. at 577. At
the same timehowever the court declined to decide whether dfiendingemployee’s

conduct—that is, the conduct of the “servant’—must be “independently tortitdisat 576

1 D.C. case law does not appear to distinguish between “negligent superaisiinégligent
retention” See, e.gPhelan 805 A.2d at 937.



n.32. “For present purposes,” the cowurote “it is sufficient to say thah regligent supervision
action requires a breach by theployet—that is,by the master“of a duty owed to the
plaintiff, and that this duty must be imposed by the common law and not by stdtute.”
(emphasis added).

Here Whole Foods moves to dismilstar's negligensupervision claim on the ground
that he has not alleged the breach of a predicate common law duty by Whola§i@apsred
by Griffin. Dkt. 4 at 3—4.In responselslar does not disputhata negligensupervision claim
cannot be predicated upon an alleged violation of 42 U.S.C. § B¥8Dkt. 7 at 7-8see also
Newman v. Borders, Inc530 F. Supp. 2d 346, 350-51 (D.D.C. 2008stead, Islanrgueghat
he can predicate his negligent supervisi@nclon either (1) his claim for breach of implied
contract or (2his unassertedaim for intentional or negligent infliction of emotional distress.
Dkt. 7 at 7. The Court evaluates each theory in turn.

A. Breach of Contract asa Predicate for Negligent Supervision

The Court first considerislar’'s theory based on breach of contract. For this purpose, the
Court assumes (but does not decide) that Bartaltégedconducteffecteda breach of contract
between Islar and Whole Foods. As framed3biffin, the question is whethan employehas
a “common law duty” to preveiitis employees from breachirige employer'sontractswith its
other employeesSeed25 A.2d at 576 & n.32.

Admittedly, Griffin does not clearly foreclose the possibititata negligent supervision
claim might be predicatediponabreach of contract. For examp@&iffin at one poinstates
that negligent supervision claimsay be predicatedohly on common law causes of action,”
925 A.2d at 576-a clasghat woutl seem to include causes of action for breach of conseet

e.g, Campbell v. Fort Lincoln New Town Corp5 A.3d 379, 382 (D.C. 20123haracterizing



breach of contract as a “common law cause[] of actioAHd Griffin expressly declingtto hold

tha theservantemployee’s conduct must be “independently tortiodud.”at 576 n.32. Instead,
Griffin phrases ithioldingin terms ofmoregeneral‘common law duties” (as opposed to

common lawtort duties), leaving open the door to arguments about whether there is a “duty” not
to breach contracts and, if so, whether that duty is imposed by the casathar by common

law.

Nonethelessn applying state law, thi€ourtis not merely dventriloquist’s dummy” to
local courts.Norwood v. Marroccp780 F.2d 110, 113 n.4 (D.C. Cir. 198®atherthe Court
must applyD.C. law conscientiously, with the goal ddi¢hiev[ing]the same outcome [it]
believe[s] would result if the District of Columbia Court of Appeals considifedicase.” Metz
v. BAE Sys. Tech. Sols. & Servs. Iii@4 F.3d 18, 22 (D.C. Cir. 2014) (internal quotation mark
omitted);19 Charles Alan Wright & Arthur R. Miller,EBERAL PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE
8 4507 & n.30 (3d ed. updated Oct. 2016). And the Court conchedethattheD.C. Court of
Appealswould not allow a negligent supervision claim to be predicated on a breach of contract
alone.

First,as Whole Foods rightly notes, to hold otherwise would effectively “assign tort
liability to breaches of contract.” Dkt. 8 at 3. On Islar’s theory, ang &n employee breaches
a contract, and the employer should have known the breach was likgdgrthsuffering from
the breach would have a cause of action not just in contract but also in tort. D.C. kaw,is cl
however, that “the mere negligent breach of a contracts not enough to sustain an action
sounding in tort.”Hunter ex rel A.H. v. District of Columbia64 F. Supp. 3d 158, 186 n.18

(D.D.C. 2014)alteration in original{quotingCurry v. Bank of Am. Home Loans Servici@g2



F. Supp. 2d 105, 109 (D.D.C. 20119¢e alspe.g, KBI Transp. Servs. v. Med. Transp. Mgmt.,
Inc., 679 F. Supp. 2d 104, 108-09 (D.D.C. 2010).

Secondalthough thé&riffin court found it “unnecessary . . . [flor present purposes
hold that theservantemployee’s conduct must be “independently tortious,” the opinion’s
reasoning suggests that the servacdisduct musat leastbe of a kindactionable aa common
law tort. See, e.qgGriffin, 925 A.2d at 576 (citing ®ROSSER& KEETON ONTORTS § 80 (5th ed.
1984) and the BSTATEMENT(SECOND) OF TORTS 8 314B(1) (1965¥or descriptions of the
“‘common law . . . dutiesthatemployersowetheir employees)d. at 576 & n.31 (dismissing
plaintiff's claim in part because her claims “did not include any allegatioosrafuct
independently tortious” angecause “[s]exudlarassment has never been a comlaeriort”);

id. at 577 (explaining that a negligent supervision claim for sexual harassment coild lie
supported by a viable claim of independent tortious conduct as recognized at common law”

And the Court of Appealirthernoted that it had previously “suggested,” albeit without

deciding, that “the conduct of the servant must be independently tortious.” 925 A.2d at 576 n.32
seeDaka, Inc. v. McCrage839 A.2d 682, 693 (D.C. 200&tating that it is “most probably right”

that “negligent supervision . requires logically antecedent proof of a tort committed by the
supervised employee”)This is the conclusion the Court believes the D.C. Court of Appeals
would adopt if presentedith Islar’'s argument in this case.

Third, while Islar asserts that “Whole Foods had a duty under D.C. common law to
adequately supervise its employees to ensure they did not breach Whole Foodsdst wotht
its employees,” Dkt. 7 at 7, Islar cites no authority for that novel contentionddéshe cite
anycase in which a negligent supervision claim has been allowed to proceed based solely on a

alleged breach of contrackee id. The Court has not located one, either. For all these reasons,



the Court concludes thiglar's alleged breach of contract contaldimis an impropebasis for
his negligent supervision claiomder District of Columbia law
B. Infliction of Emotional Distress asa Predicate for Negligent Supervision

As a fallback/slar argues that his negligent supervision claim “is predicated on a claim
for intentional or negligent infliction of emotional distresBKt. 7 at 9—notwithstandinthat
his complaint asserteeithertype ofclaim, seeCompl. {1 1530. As an initial matter, it isot
obviousthata plaintiff can ground a negligent supervision claim on a cause of action which he
does not actually assert. The Court need not reach that issue, however, as ithatdiea
alleged factsire insufficient to state a claim feitherintentional or negligent infliction of
emotional distress.

To start Islar has not pleaded facts sufficient to state a claim for intentional infliction of
emotional distressUnder D.C. law, intentional infliction of emotional distress requires proof of
“(1) extreme and outrageous conduct on the part of the defendant whethé2 intentionally
or recklessly (3) causes the plaintiff severe emotional distréssijani v. Georgetown Uniy.

791 A.2d 41, 44 (D.C. 2002). “The conduct must be ‘so outrageous in character, and so extreme
in degree, as to go beyond all possible bounds of decency, and to be regarded as atrocious, and
utterly intolerable in a civilized community.’Td. (quotingHoman v. Goyal711 A.2d 812, 818

(D.C. 1998)).This is a “very demanding standard,” “[e]specially in the employment cohtext.
Brown v. Children’s Nat. Med. Cir773 F. Supp. 2d 125, 137 (D.D.C. 2011)5]enerally,
employeremployee conflicts do not rise to the level of outrageous condDefrican v.

Children’s Nat. Med. Ctr.702 A.2d 207, 211-12 (D.C. 1997) (collecting D.C. casds)e, the

Court agrees withVhole Foodghatlslar “simply does not allege the sort of ‘extreme and

outrageous’ conduct necessary to distinguish his case from a gandkety-wrongful



termination claim.” Dkt. 8 at 5see alspe.g, Beyene v. Hilton Hotels CorB15 F. Supp. 2d
235, 249 (D.D.C. 2011p(legations thah supervisosubmitted‘allegedly unjustified ‘write
ups’ [of the plaintiff] . . .[did] not rise to the level of ‘extreme and outrageous contiwtd
explainingthat“much more extreme€onducthas“routinely” been heldo beinsufficiently
outrageous).

Nor has Islar pleaded facts that constinggligentinfliction of emotional distress.
Under D.C. law, a plaintiff may recover for negligent infliction of emotionalelst undeeither
of two theories Lesesne v. District of Columbi&46 F. Supp. 3d 190, 195 (D.D.C. 2015). “The
well-established ‘zone of danger’ test allows a plaintiff to recover ‘for menta¢sissif the
defendant's actions caused the plaintiff to be in danger of physical injury and resdt, the
plaintiff feared for his own safety.”ld. (quotingHedgepeth v. Whitman Walker Cling2 A.3d
789, 796 (D.C.2011) (en banc)). Alternatively, a plaintiff can recover if, among othes,thing
there is a “special relationship” between the parties that “necessarily implicatéminhé’s
emotional welbeing.” Hedgepeth22 A.3d at 811-12. Neither theasyavailable to Islar. Islar
does not allege any risk of physical injury or that he feared for his own,ssddtyere can be no
“zone of danger” liability. And Islar has not alleged that he and Bartolo had apytiier than
arm’s length, supervisamployee relationship, foreclosing any “special relationship” liability.

As such, Islar has not identified any predicate claim u@Gdéfin thatwould permit him

to recover on a negligent supervision or retention theory.
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CONCLUSION
Whole Foods’s motion to dismiss Count Il of Islar's complaint, Dkt. dcordingly
GRANTED. ltis furtherORDERED that Whole Foods shall file an answer to the remainder of
Islar’'s complaint on or beforedgember 12016.

SO ORDERED.

/s/ Randolph D. Moss
RANDOLPH D. MOSS
United States District Judge

Date: November 17, 206
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